1948

Rocky Mountain Honey Co., Inc. v. Marion R. Crystal and Delsa N. Crystal : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant, plaintiff in the lower Court, claimed:

1. In the first cause of action a piece of property $3\frac{1}{2}$ rods by 10 rods under a tax sale of the property to Salt Lake City Corporation. Plaintiff herein acquired same by a deed from Salt Lake City. The tax sale was a sale upon a sewer assessment.

2. In the second cause of action a right-of-way over a 10 foot strip on the south of the same property which Appellant claims to own by virtue of the tax sale and supports the same by a deed from a former owner of the said right-of-way under chain of title, see Exhibit H for the said deed, and Exhibit S, entry #24 where the grantor acquired same prior to Respondents.

3. In the third and fourth cause of action Appellant claims a right-of-way over said 10 foot strip by reason of a prescriptive easement.

4. In the fifth cause of action Appellant seeks to establish a right of access by the crossing of the said right-of-way above to other property owned by Appellant for the purpose of cleaning a ditch on same and also to establish Appellant's right to maintain said ditch at a certain depth and enjoining Respondents from interfering with said ditch and flow and also for damages accruing to Appellant by reason of the said Respondent blocking the natural flow and refusing to permit Appellant right to clear debris from same, causing damage to Appellant's property.

5. In the sixth cause of action Appellant seeks to recover for damage sustained by Respondents' removal of gravel and hard surfaced material from the said right-of-way.

The said Respondents have a general denial to all causes of action and also claim to have been the owner and entitled to possession of the property for more than seven (7) years.

Respondents also seek to quiet title to the said property and to enjoin appellants from claiming same or said right-of-way.

From judgment for respondent on all causes of action and granting Respondents affirmative relief and extinguishing any tax lien Appellant appeals.

E R R O R S

FIRST CAUSE

1. No evidence to support the findings, and findings contrary to the evidence.

2. Judgment is contrary to law and not supported by proper findings.

3. Refusal of Court to grant new trial.

4. Giving Respondent affirmative equitable relief declaring tax sale void and extinguishing the tax lien.

SECOND CAUSE

5. Findings are not supported by the evidence and are contrary to the evidence.

6. Judgment is against the law and not supported by the findings.

THIRD AND FOURTH CAUSES

7. No evidence to support the findings concerning adverse use.

8. No finding to support the Judgment.

9. Judgment contrary to law and evidence.

FIFTH CAUSE

10. Findings contrary to evidence and no evidence to support same.

11. Judgment contrary to the evidence and the law.

12. Failure to find on two material issues.

(a) Right of Appellant to maintain said ditch.

(b) Right to enjoin Respondents from interfering with same.

SIXTH CAUSE

13. No findings to support the Judgment.

14. Judgment contrary to the evidence and law.

A R G U M E N T

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

15-7-41 U.C.A. '43 provides:

“ * * Such assessment and finding of benefits shall not be subject to review in any legal or equitable

able action, except for fraud, gross injustice or mistake. (C. L. 17, § 679, 692.)

The legislature has spoken. The Court is without jurisdiction to review the matter render any judgment holding as the Court did in the case at bar. This is particularly true since it will be noted that Respondent did not bring itself within the exception by pleadings, findings of fact or otherwise with respect to the exceptions noted in the statute, to-wit: fraud, gross injustice, or mistake.

15-7-41 U.C.A. '43 is the same section as Comp. Laws of Utah 1917, 679-692, and the Supreme Court of this state has heretofore with respect to this section decided as follows:

STOTT et al vs. SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH

151 Pac. 988 — 47 Utah 113

“ * * Assessments and finding of benefits shall not be subject to review in any legal or equitable action except for fraud, gross injustice, or mistake. * * ”

“That is, *it is not enough merely to show that some provision of a statute or ordinance (where the matter is not jurisdictional) has not been complied with*, but ordinarily it must further be made to appear that the party complaining should prevail as a matter of justice and good conscience. This Respondents have utterly failed to so do.”

“ * * A failure, therefore, to comply with the ordinance, no doubt constituted an irregularity; but such an irregularity could not rob the council of jurisdiction. * * If such can be done now, then the Respondents have discovered an easy way to obtain an improvement which is beneficial to their property in the form of a permanent sidewalk, without pay-

ing for it or for any part of the cost of construction. In view that the omission complained of was not jurisdictional, Respondents cannot now avail themselves of the objection."

"The authorities are very numerous, and practically unanimous, to the effect that where a taxpayer desires to enjoin the collection of a tax levied to pay the cost of a public improvement for which his property is assessed he, except for fraud or collusion, or jurisdictional defects, *must move timely, and if any particular remedy is provided by law, must pursue that remedy.* * * "

" * * The judgment in the case at bar, however, unconditionally relieves the property owners from paying anything, although there is not a particle of evidence in the record that the walk in question is worthless. * * "

15-7-40 U.C.A. '43

"If the owners of two-thirds of the property mentioned do not file such objections, the governing body shall have jurisdiction to order the making of the improvements mentioned in said notice."

Here the legislature has prescribed the only way the city may lose jurisdiction.

Respondents can show nowhere in the record that two-thirds of property owners objected or that any one objected. Jurisdiction must be conceded.

Appellant moreover has from the record shown a strict compliance with all state laws and even city ordinances in the sale in question, and this was not necessary under the Scott case supra.

The findings paragraphs 7 and 8, R 57 and 58, are the only findings upon which the judgment awarded could

possibly be sustained. These findings are contrary to the evidence, see uncontradicted evidence Exhibits V, W and Y, E, V, D, A and R 68, 69.

In the Branting case below, failure to have complied with any one of findings 7 or 8 would not in any "event rob the city of jurisdiction."

BRANTING vs. SALT LAKE CITY

153 Pac. 995 — 47 Utah 296

" * * After the law was amended, but without publishing a new notice of intention, the Appellant advertised for bids as required by the statute for the construction of the sewer in question, and the lowest responsible bid it obtained for the construction of the sewer amounted to \$2.15 per front foot. * * where any taxpayer who felt aggrieved could be heard respecting the justness or validity or equality of the assessment and levy of the tax as afore-said. The respondent did not appear nor offer any objection to the assessment and levy of the tax as proposed, and the tax was accordingly assessed and levied to the amount of \$2.15 per front foot, which was in excess of the estimated cost, as before stated. * * "

"Since the Legislature might have dispensed with any estimate, the failure of the council to make any would doubtless be held an irregularity which might be waived by a failure to protest."

" * * While it is now well established that in levying special taxes all jurisdictional requirements must be strictly complied with, yet it is equally well settled that all statutory requirements *are not jurisdictional*, and that a departure from the latter constitute irregularities merely which must be timely objected to by the taxpayer or they may be deemed

waived. Courts may not add to the statutory requirements, *nor have they the right to declare an act jurisdictional which is not made so by the statute.* * * *

“ * * We are of the opinion, therefore, that the District Court erred in holding that the estimate under our statute was jurisdictional, and that in levying the tax in excess of such estimate the Appellant exceeded its power or jurisdiction, and that for that reason the amount of the tax in controversy here was invalid.”

These cases hold that should the lower Court have been justified in making such findings as contained in paragraph 7 and 8, R 57 and 58, which, of course, it was not, that still it is error to hold the tax sale void. The Court was, therefore, twice wrong. First, in making such a finding contrary to the evidence, which evidence proved beyond all reasonable doubt that the contrary was the case. Second, the findings under the statute and the law cannot support the decree.

Exhibit “S”, the certificate in the abstract before entry 28, shows the special sewer assessment. Respondents acquired the property at entry 50 almost 14 years after said assessment and notice of said assessment. At the time of the assessment and the sale the property consisted of a parcel as described in the certificate just prior to entry 28 which included a single piece, part being in Lot 7 and part in Lot 8. The land in controversy in this litigation was under all tax notices and descriptions part of a larger parcel as a unit with its westerly boundary abutting Pugsley Street, said westerly boundary being in Lot. 7.

At the time of the publication of Exhibit “U”, the abstract, Exhibit “S” shows all the property outlined in green

on the plat to belong to the same person. Exhibit "U" had published thereon also Exhibit "A". Note the bottom of page 1 on Exhibit "A" shows the assessment to be on both sides of Pugsley Street and the plat shows the property to abut Pugsley Street, also Exhibit "A" shows in the center of page 2 that the assessment is to the "ENTIRE DEPTH." It also describes the property by lot and block. Exhibit "D" again describes the property as does "E", any one of which was sufficient notice, and since the property now claimed was included in that described. Under this evidence paragraph 6 of R 57 is contrary to the evidence.

When the assessment was levied the property was all owned by one person. This property abutted on PUGSLEY Street. It was part in Lot 7 and part in Lot 8. The property was assessed for general taxes and the special taxes as a unit and as provided in the notice TO THE ENTIRE DEPTH, which included the very property at issue. Respondents tried in the lower Court to make something of the fact that years after the assessment and tax sale the owner broke the land in two and deeded part to Respondents. If such an ingenious, clever device could relieve property of a proper tax, for special assessment, all owners could deed one inch of the front of their property to someone and claim the balance of the back was free from sidewalk, sewer and street assessment.

The Courts have recognized this and have uniformly held.

HESTER vs. COLLECTOR OF TAXES

217 Mass. 422, 105 N.E. 631

"Where it appeared that, at the time of the passage of the order for the construction of a sewer, the land assessed was one tract, it was held that the

fact that subsequently the owner divided the land into several lots and sold them to different persons did not prevent the assessment of the land as a unit, since "the assessment when made constituted a lien upon the land covered by it, and this lien relates back to the time of the passage of the order."

See also:

JORDAN vs. CITY OF OLIVE HILL

162 S.W. 2nd 229

STATE vs. COMBS

106 S. W. 2nd 61

Exhibits "V", "W" and "Y" show notices were mailed, and there is no evidence to the contrary. These are not jurisdictional in any event and the evidence all shows that notices were mailed. Paragraph 7 of the findings, R 57, is not only unsupported by any evidence as is paragraph 8 of the findings, but under Utah cases above cited these are not jurisdictional and "constitute irregularities which must be timely objected to or deemed waived." Such objection must be by two-thirds of property mentioned.

15-7-38 U.C.A. '43

This section precludes any attack upon the sale unless same was made to governing body sitting as a board of equalization.

The record is *bare* of any showing by Respondents of such an attack or complaint.

15-7-38 above also provides:

"THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO SHOW SUCH TAX OR PART THEREOF INVALID, INEQUITABLE OR UNJUST RESTS UPON THE PARTY WHO BRINGS SUCH SUIT."

Respondents have failed to carry this burden and have failed to make even a *prima facie* case of jurisdictional defect or irregularity while Appellant has by overwhelming evidence shown the sale to be valid in every detail. Respondents might claim that Appellant now takes an inconsistent position in claiming under statutes quoted that the Court is without jurisdiction to declare the tax sale void and grant the relief given Respondents, and then quoting a section which mentions the word suit. Note, however, that as a condition *precedent* to the right of the Court to have jurisdiction or grant relief the section requires:

1. Payment of the tax under protest.
2. Notice of intention in writing of not only intention to sue to recover, but also a statement of the grounds and the grievance.
3. Commencement of action within 60 days "But not later" after date of filing of written notice.

Respondents do not even pretend that any one of the above has been complied with, yet hope to sustain the Court's decree declaring the sale void and no reimbursement on the flimsy findings of paragraphs 7 and 8.

15-7-39 U.C.A. '43

This section provides:

"Every person * * who fails to appear before such board of equalization and review and make any and *every* objection he may have to such tax shall be deemed to have *waived* all and *every objection* to such levy."

Respondents have shown no compliance with this section. Respondents have waived objections and the legislature having spoken, the Court was without jurisdiction to grant the order entered.

The Court erred in not holding that Respondents waived EVERY OBJECTION and particularly when the record was silent of any objections being made by Respondents at any time. The Court certainly erred in permitting the Respondents to enjoy all the benefits of the improvements without any of the tax burden and even granting affirmative relief in equity enjoining Appellant from claiming the land without requiring a reimbursement for Appellant with respect to the tax lien. The cases on this are too numerous to require citations. The tax sale should be held valid.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Exhibit H is a deed from the Utah Oil Refining Company to Appellant. Exhibit "S", entry 24, shows that the said grantor of Appellant acquired the property through chain of title from a predecessor in the chain of title to the said Respondents. The said Respondents took the property subject to this right-of-way and the grantor of Appellant had the right to give unto the said Appellant by a deed said interest, which was done by Exhibit "H". R. 335 shows the attempt of the Respondents to vary this written instrument by a parole which, of course, is contrary to law, and notwithstanding this fact R 338 shows definitely that the said grantor of plaintiff did take said deed for the purpose of maintaining a right-of-way and said grantor could, therefore, properly convey this interest to the said Appellant.

Paragraph 3 of R 58 and 59 is directly contrary to the evidence and there is absolutely no evidence to support such finding, and paragraph 4 following is also contrary to the evidence shown in R 95 to 112 and 134 to 178 and 378 to 429.

The evidence is almost conclusive of the continued use of the said right-of-way by many people, and even by a cripple who had no trouble going through same, and from the record as here disclosed there was never a time that this right-of-way was not used by all the people in the rear for more than twenty-one years. It is quite clear from the facts of the deed given as well as the adverse use that the lower Court should be reversed on the Second Cause of Action.

THIRD AND FOURTH CAUSES OF ACTION

With respect to the Third and Fourth Causes of action, what has been said with respect to the Second Cause of Action with respect to adverse use is adopted as argument with respect to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action, and please also note from R 162 that the evidence is uncontradicted of a prescriptive use of this property as a means of crossing in the year 1918. The defendant has no evidence to the contrary as well as all of the record above recited showing cripples, children and vehicles using said right-of-way continuously and adversely.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

The evidence, R 100, a statement of a disinterested witness, discloses that the plaintiff was prevented from cleaning the ditch and R 166, and particularly R 170-171, 230 and 231 of the record discloses that not only the plaintiff, but the defendant, at R 377-378 admitted moving the supporting walls around the ditch. A material issue before the Court to be determined was whether the ditch was upon the plaintiff's land or defendants' land, and whether the plaintiff had the right to maintain said ditch. The Court made no findings on either issue. Paragraph 4, R 60, is contrary to the evidence and not supported by the evi-

dence, see R 100 and R 172. See also the finding of the defendant itself in R 61, wherein the defendant admits removing the gravel supporting the sides of the ditch.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

R 165 is uncontradicted and shows that Appellant paid for and hauled gravel on the driveway.

That Respondents removed same to Appellant's damage is even found in paragraph 2, R 61 of the findings, yet the Court finds for Respondents No Cause of Action.

Respectfully submitted,

E. L. SCHOENHALS,

Attorney for Appellant.