1949

Rocky Mountain Honey Co., Inc. v. Marion R. Crystal and Delsa N. Crystal : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

It is difficult to discern any correlation between the assignments of error, argument, and what apparently is a list of points argued in appellant's brief. In view of this, there seems no other logical way to present argument in respondents' brief except through an analysis of each separate cause of action. Appellant also complains as to the findings made by the court, but we cannot determine from the brief the specific points of complaint in this regard, and since the findings are clearly supported by the evidence, and with equal clarity support the judgment, we can perceive no reason for analysis of each and every finding, and the consumption of the court's time in this regard, when in reality there may be no disagreement at all.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

A. There is no proof that notice of intention was ever given of the assessment of a special tax upon the property here involved.

As was pointed out in the statement of facts, the sole claim of appellant to the title of the entire tract of property owned by respondents arises by virtue of a quitclaim or disclaimer from Salt Lake City Corporation, affecting such interest as it in turn had acquired by virtue of sewer extension No. 437 and proceedings thereunder.

It was stipulated between counsel during the trial of the action that the applicable ordinances of Salt Lake

City should be deemed in evidence for the purpose of trial. Generally, the Revised Ordinances of Salt Lake City, 1920, were in effect during the years 1925 and 1926, the period of initiation of the special tax proceedings herein. On May 30, 1921, that portion of the Revision of 1920 dealing with special taxes was amended and revised, and continued in effect until a later Revision of the Salt Lake City ordinances in 1934. Hereafter, references in this brief to Salt Lake City ordinances will refer to the amendment of 1921, which is almost the same as the ordinances affecting this subject found in the 1934 Revision, although there are some differences.

Section 1735 of the Salt Lake City ordinances, as amended in 1921, provides for the notice of intention to make the special improvement. Proper notice is jurisdictional, and unless it is given the entire assessment and any proceedings taken thereunder are invalid, and may be collaterally attacked: *Jones vs. Foulger*, 46 Utah 419, 150 pac. 933; *Branting vs. Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 296, 153 Pac. 995. Property may not be taken for a special assessment unless and until the owner of the property is given notice and opportunity to be heard before a competent and impartial tribunal. *Elkins vs. Millard County Drainage District*, 77 Utah 303, 294 Pac. 307.

The last paragraph of section 1735 provides as follows:

“Within five days after the first publication of such notice the city engineer shall furnish the

city recorder and city treasurer a list of the owners of the property within the district affected by such improvement, and the recorder shall within five days thereafter, mail post paid to each of said property owners a copy of said notice addressed to the last known residence of such property owner. The city engineer, shall, when directed so to do by the board of commissioners, prepare plans and specifications for said improvements."

There is no evidence in this record of any compliance with this portion of the ordinance. In an attempt, apparently, to prove such compliance, appellant introduced exhibit Y, which purports to be a copy of the notice and which is a printed document at the bottom of which appears the notation, "Notice mailed July 7, 1925. H. T." This is certainly no proof of any kind, and there is nothing in the record to indicate that the property owners affected ever received any notice at all.

Moreover, an examination of the notice, see exhibits Y and D, shows that the owners of property abutting on Second West were not in any way notified that their property might be affected by any levy. This notice states that there shall be a half rate applied on both sides of Pugsley Street from 5th to 6th North Streets, within this district, and no mention whatever is made of Second West Street. It is apparent that there was no possible benefit from a sewer on Pugsley Street to property abutting on Second West.

Thus, in *Jones vs. Foulger*, 46 Utah 419, 150 Pac. 933, the court states at page 425:

“Again, even in the general description, the property in the notice is limited to such as is ‘abutting thereon,’ that is abutting on Hudson avenue, the street which was to be opened. By referring to the plat it will be seen that plaintiffs’ property did not actually abut, that is, adjoin the proposed street. We need not pause now, however, to determine what property is ‘bounding, abutting or adjacent’ on or to a contemplated improvement within the purview of our statute. It is sufficient now to determine that the description contained in the notice of intention clearly and manifestly did not include the property of the plaintiffs as abutting property. That was also the view of the board of equalization, and likewise of the city council when the original ordinance was adopted. Had the city council thought that the property of the plaintiffs was included in the notice of intention, it would have levied the special tax thereon in the original ordinance, and no ‘amended’ ordinance would have been necessary. We thus have a clear case where by a general statement something may be deemed to be included which by a particular statement is, however, clearly and manifestly excluded. This case, therefore, must be regarded as though no notice of intention had been published in so far as the plaintiffs are concerned. If, therefore, the publishing of notice of intention is jurisdictional, the city council never obtained jurisdiction to levy the special tax upon the property of the plaintiffs, and hence the tax here in question is void. If the property of the plaintiffs could be legally assessed under the notice in question, we do not see why the board of equalization could not have recommended that any and all property ‘adjacent’ to the improvement should not also be assessed, and

the city council could have done so by adopting an 'amended ordinance.' To so hold would practically do away with the publishing of a notice of intention as required by our statute."

It is submitted that no notice of intention was given, and that this constitutes a jurisdictional defect rendering the entire proceedings invalid.

B. Sewer assessment No. 437 was never intended to and did not in any way affect the property here involved.

It will be recalled from the statement of fact, that all of the property with which we are here concerned lies within Lot 8 of Block 138. A casual glance at the record and exhibits clearly shows that the assessment for this sewer extension was levied upon Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7 of Block 138, and had no relation whatsoever to property in Lot 8.

Exhibit A is a copy of the ordinance levying the tax, dated September 15, 1925, and clearly shows the extent of assessment. This ordinance is required by section 1743 of the ordinances covering special taxes, and provides for the levy of tax. Section 1743 provides that after certain preliminaries have been complied with:

"... the board of commissioners shall pass an ordinance levying a special tax sufficient in amount to cover the cost of such improvements, as appears by the contract entered into for the performance of said work

“Said ordinance shall include:

“(c) A description of the blocks, lots or parts thereof, or pieces of ground affected or benefited by said improvement, and upon which said tax is levied. ”

The ordinance of exhibit A does describe the lots affected in detail, and reads as follows:

“AN ORDINANCE

“AN ORDINANCE LEVYING A TAX and for the assessment of property in Sewer Districts Nos. 1 and 2 (Sewer Extension No. 437) for the purpose of constructing a sewer.

“Be it ordained by the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake City, Utah: Section 1. That the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake City does hereby levy the tax and provide for the assessment of the same upon the property hereinafter described in Sewer Districts Nos. 1 and 2 (Sewer Extension No. 437) for the purpose of constructing a sewer, to-wit:

“..... Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7, of Blk. 138, Plat A, Salt Lake City Survey; abutting on both sides of Gale Street from 9th South to American Ave., both sides of American Avenue from 2nd West to Gale St., both sides of Pugsley Street from 5th to 6th North Streets
.....”

Again it is noted there is no inclusion of any property in Lot 8, and the above section contains all of the property described in Block 138. The assessment has

no more relevancy to Lot 8 than it does to property lying along 21st South Street. While assessments of this kind are made to the full depth of the lot affected, this of course does not and cannot extend that assessment to any other lot. A further consideration of Exhibit A shows that the first and final estimate which is made a part of this exhibit, and which shows in detail the footage of abutting property, *lists only* Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7 of Block 138. Another part of this exhibit shows the names and addresses of the property owners of the area, giving the lot and block of their holdings. Again this list *shows only* property in lots 2, 3, 6 and 7 of Block 138. In none of these documents is the slightest mention made of Lot 8. The exhibit also contains a NOTICE OF SPECIAL TAX which again *fails to list any property in Lot 8*, although it does cover Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7 of Block 138.

Again, the notice to property owners, *Exhibit E*, which initially sets forth that assessment for this sewer extension is about to be levied, reads as follows:

“Notice To Property Owners

Notice is hereby given that the assessment of a tax is about to be levied by the Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake City, Utah, upon the following property Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7, Block 138, Plat “A”, Salt Lake City Survey, for the purpose of constructing sewer, wherein assessment is made Pugsley St., 5th to 6th No.; etc.”

This clearly shows that all of the reference in this notice to any property in Block 138, is to property within Lots 2, 3, 6 and 7, and nowhere is Lot 8 mentioned.

Appellant complains of the ruling of the lower court on the ground that the same individual owned the property here involved and the piece lying to the west of it in Lot 7, and states that because of this, the assessment for the sewer for the full depth back of the lots involved included Lot 8. If the same individual happened to own all of the property lying a mile to the east, it would be quite as logical to state that the assessment extended that distance. It seems completely apparent that the assessment affected only Lot 7, and could not in any way affect Lot 8 which fronted on 2nd West Street and derived no benefit whatsoever from this sewer line. Appellant's contention is completely without merit.

C. Any interest acquired by Salt Lake City was lost prior to its attempted grant by redemption.

Another point deserves note in connection with this tax sale. Exhibit F is a tax sale redemption certificate dated May 5, 1943, redeeming the affects of the special tax sale for sewer extension No. 437 from the certificate of sale, exhibit GG, dated August 2, 1934. The quitclaim or disclaimer, however, from Salt Lake City to Otto Grow is dated September 3, 1946, Exhibit G. It thus appears that all of the property had been redeemed more than 10 years prior to the execution of this instrument from Salt Lake City, and if this is correct, no interest remained in Salt Lake City to quit-

claim, since the effect of the redemption was to divest the city of any such interest. It is, of course, fundamental under Utah law that the individual redeeming acquires no title or interest by virtue of such act.

D. There was a failure to comply with essential procedural steps relative to the acquisition by Salt Lake City of title to property through tax sale, rendering sale invalid.

While it may be that mere irregularities in some procedural steps outlined by our statutes, and ordinances enacted pursuant thereto, relative to special tax sales do not invalidate the sale, an examination of the record shows complete omission of several essential steps in the instant case. The extent and nature of omission goes far beyond anything that might be termed a mere irregularity. The absence of the proper jurisdictional notice of intention has already been noted, but there are other omissions which it is submitted are of an equally serious nature.

Section 1737 of the ordinances provides that before any special tax for special improvement shall be levied, the board of commissioners shall cause to be published a notice to contractors calling for bids which shall be published for a period of at least twenty days in each issue of a newspaper published in Salt Lake City. There is not a scintilla of evidence in the record that any such notice was ever given.

Section 1741 of the ordinances provides that the Board of Equalization after hearings on the proposed levy, shall report to the city commission any changes

or corrections made by it in the assessment list, and upon such report being made, the board of commissioners shall proceed with the levy of such tax. There is nothing in the record to show that the corrected assessment list was so reported.

Section 1750 provides:

“Notice of special tax. Immediately upon the receipt by the city treasurer of the certified copy of the ordinance levying a special tax or assessment, as provided herein, the city treasurer shall give at least five day’s notice in one or more papers having a general circulation in the city, of the time when such tax or assessment shall become delinquent; such notice shall be substantially in the following form:

NOTICE OF SPECIAL TAX TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

“Notice is hereby given that a special tax for the purpose of (here insert briefly a description of the improvement for which the tax is levied) has been levied by ordinance of the board of commissioners of Salt Lake City, Utah, which became effective on the.....

“Said special tax is levied upon the following described real property in Salt Lake City, to wit: (Here insert a full description of the property affected by the levy, according to lots, blocks or parts thereof, or pieces of ground *as the same may have been platted and recorded*), and is due and payable in equal annual installments, beginning.....

“Interest at the rate of . . . (not to exceed seven) per cent per annum on the whole amount

of said tax shall be computed from the date the ordinance levying said tax becomes effective, to wit: the.....day of..... 19.....; and interest at said rate on the whole amount of said tax unpaid shall be due and payable with each installment.....If any installment or the interest aforesaid is not paid on the date when the same becomes due, then the whole amount of the tax unpaid at the time said installment and interest are due will become due and payable, and will draw interest at the rate of ten per cent per annum until paid. One or more of said installments in the order in which they are payable aforesaid, or the whole tax, may be paid at any time within fifteen days after the ordinance levying the tax become effective, without interest; and one or more of said installments in the order in which they are payable, or the whole tax unpaid, may be paid on the day any installment is due, by paying the amount thereof and interest to said day. If said tax is not paid when due I shall proceed at once to collect same with interest and costs, as provided by law and ordinance.
.”

Exhibit W is apparently the only proof of compliance with this section. It will be noted that there is nothing in the exhibit to show that the very purpose of the section, namely to enable property owners to determine when the tax becomes delinquent, had been properly presented to interested parties. In net effect, there is no proof that this notice was ever given. Moreover, the section requires a description of the property by lots and blocks, but this apparently was not done. It is true that Exhibit A contains a notice which follows

the requirements of the section above, *but there is nothing to show it was published as it appears in Exhibit A.* As has been previously noted, moreover, this delinquent notice in Exhibit A is a notice that taxes are delinquent, *not on Lot 8, but on lots 2, 3, 6 and 7 of Block 138.*

Section 1751 of the ordinances requires the city treasurer to deposit in the mails postpaid and addressed to the several owners of the property affected by the levy, as they appear on the records of the county assessor, a personal notice, containing the facts relating to the assessment and substantially in the form provided for the published notice above. Exhibit V is apparently the proof of this mailing, but consists of an affidavit attached to a blank printed form, and does not in any way indicate that a single notice was mailed to any particular property holder affected by this levy.

Section 1752 of the ordinances provides:

“Within ten days after the date of delinquency, as fixed in the levy and notice of tax, the city treasurer shall proceed to make up a list of all property upon which the special tax remains due and unpaid, and upon completion cause the same to be published in some newspaper having general circulation in the city, daily thereafter for a period of ten days.”

.”

As this court stated in *Peterson vs. Ogden City*, 176 P. 2d 599, 603, 604:

“Plaintiff makes two arguments for laches or estoppel. The first is that that part of Section

20 of the ordinance which says, 'Ten days after the date of delinquency as fixed in the levy and notice of tax, or thereafter, the City Treasurer shall proceed to make up a list of all property upon which special taxes remain due and unpaid, and upon completion cause the same to be published once in some newspaper having general circulation in Ogden City,' is mandatory and the failure of the treasurer to act within the time provided defeats the lien. Technically, this is not an argument for 'laches' or 'estoppel' as those words are ordinarily used but rather an argument that the city has failed to comply with a mandatory statutory provision and has therefore lost its lien.

"We agree that the treasurer must comply with Section 20 in order to make a valid sale of the property for special taxes.
"

Exhibit B is an affidavit of publication of this delinquency notice. It was not published for a period of ten days at all, but as appears from the affidavit only in one issue of the Deseret News, on July 30, 1934, nor can it be determined from the record that even this one publication was within 10 days after date of delinquency.

It will be observed that time and again in the course of procedural steps there has been a failure to give the property owners affected by the levy a notice of the status of the levy as required by the ordinances. Appellant's brief takes the position that all of these omissions are mere irregularities which can have no

ultimate effect on the tax sale. If this were true, then the only step required under such reasoning would be that of acquiring a valid notice of intention. We do not believe this is the law, and believe that these additional steps and notices are as essential to continuing jurisdiction as the original notice of intention.

Appellant cites the case of *Stott vs. Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 113, 151 Pac. 988 for the proposition that in a case of this kind irregularities in the absence of fraud, mistake or gross injustice, are not available to one contesting a tax deed. In the Stott case, the essential controversy arose over whether or not the sidewalk had been constructed in conformity with the type specified in the notice of intention, and the evidence showed that although there had been some structural change, the sidewalk as constructed was equally as serviceable as that of the notice. The suit, moreover, was not one determining the validity of a tax sale, but was an attempt on the part of property owners to restrain and enjoin the collection of the special levy. Irregularities of the type involved in that case are entirely distinct from the failure, as in the instant case, to conform to the various steps required to effect a valid tax sale.

Appellant further cites *Branting vs. Salt Lake City*, 47 Utah 296, 153 Pac. 995, for the same proposition. That case was an attempt to annul certain ordinances and proceedings in connection with a special tax. The

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